RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/19/2017 8:45 am

| IN THE SUPREME COURT | |
|----------------------------|--|
| OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON | |

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 94521-7

COURT OF APPELAS NO. 47905-2-II

LARRY D. RILEY,

Appellant,

Vs.

IRON GATE SELF STORAGE; ESMS PARTNERS LP; GLEN L. ARONSON EVE ARONSON TRUST; PRIME COMMERCIAL PROPERTY, INC.; all dba IRON GATE SELF STORAGE; dba IRON GATE STORAGE – CASCADE PARK,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James L. Sellers WSBA #4770 415 East Mill Plain Blvd Vancouver, WA 98660 (T) (360) 695 0464 (F) (360) 695 0464 Email: jsellers@sellerslawoffice.com

Attorney for Appellant, Larry D. Riley

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Larry Riley, appellant below, hereby petitions for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part C.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant seeks review of the published opinion issued by the Court of Appeals for Division II in the case of Larry D. Riley v. Iron Gates Self Storage; et al. (April 18, 2017) (47905-2) (App. A. hereto).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the character of the tort of conversion change if there is an element of inadvertence or mistake in connection with the willful interference with a chattel without lawful justification, whereby a person entitled thereto is deprived of the possession of it?
- 2. Is an actor relieved of liability to another for conversion by the actor's belief, because of a mistake of law or fact not induced by the other, that the actor: (a) has possession of the chattel or is entitled to its immediate possession, or (b) has the consent of the other or of one with one to consent for him, or (c) s otherwise privileged to act?
- 3. Is a contractual limitation on liability a defense to intentional conduct by the intentional actor who claims the benefit of the defense?

- 4. Does the conduct of a storage unit owner who intentionally sends out lien and auction notices required by RCW 19.150.040 & 060 that fail to comply with the notice requirements of those sections fall greatly below the standards established by law for the protection of others who are storage unit tenants to whom the notices are sent?
- 5. Does a storage unit owner who conducts an auction for the sale of a storage unit tenant's storage unit contents to recover rent arrearages for which statutorily inadequate lien and auction notices have been sent out engage in conduct that falls greatly below the standards established by law for the protection of others who are storage unit tenants to whom the notices are sent?
- 6 Is the Wagenblast v. Odessa Sch. Dist. No. No. 105-157-166J, 110 Wn.2d 845, 852, 758 P.2d 968 (1988) criteria for public policy applicable to the intentional tort of conversion?
- 7. Was harm to Mr. Riley substantially certain to result from the the seizure and sale of his property because Mr. Riley would have been permanently deprived of the property by its sale?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Facts Giving Rise to the Dispute</u>

Larry Riley rented storage unit 028 from Iron Gate on December 1 2003. Iron Gate's standard form rental agreement contained exculpatory language that purported to limit Iron Gate's liability to \$5,000. Ostensible limitation language from the rental agreement on Iron Gate's liability reads as follows:

- 5. . . . It is understood and agreed that Occupant may store personal property with substantially less [sic] or no aggregate value [sic] and nothing herein contained shall constitute or evidence, any agreement or administration [sic] by Operator that the aggregate value of all suchpersonal [sic] property is, will be, or is expected to be, at or near \$5,000. It Is [sic] specifically understood and agreed that Operator need not be concerned with the kind, quality, or value of personal property or other goods stored by Occupant in or about the Premises pursuant to this Rental Agreement.
- 7. LIMITATION OF OPERATOR'S LIABILITY: INDEMNITY. [sic] Operator and Operator's [sic] Agent(s) [sic] shall not be liable to Occupant for any damage or lose to any person [sic] . [sic] Occupant or any property stored in, on or about the Premises or the Project, arising from any cause whatsoever, including, but not limited to, theft, fire, mysterious disappearance, rodents, acts of God or the active or passive acts, omissions or negligence of Operator or Operator's [sic] Agents: except that Operator and Operator's Agents, as the case may be, except as otherwise provided in paragraph 6, be liable to Occupant for damage of loss [sic] to Occupant or Oocupanties [sic] Property resulting from Operator's fraud, willful injury or willful violation of law. Occupant shall indemnify and hold Operator and Operator's Agents harmless from any and all damage, loss, or expense arising out of, [sic] or in connection with, [sic] any damage to any person or property occurring In [sic], on or about the Premises arising in any way out of Occupant's [sic] use of the Premises, whether occasioned by Operator or Operator's [sic] Agents' active or passive acts, omissions or negligence or otherwise, other than damage, loss,

¹ See Ex. 1, the Lease Agreement; CP 142-147.

² Ex. 1 CP 142-143; CP 172 (p.87)

orexpense [sic] In [sic] connection with Operator or Operator's Agent's fraud, willful injury or willful violation of law.

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Rental Agreement, In [sic] no event shall Operator or Operator's Agents be liable to Occupant In [sic] an amount In [sic] excess of \$5,000 for any damage or lose to any person, [sic] Occupant or any properly stored in, [sic] on or about the Premises or the Project arising from any cause whatsoever, Including [sic], but not limited to, Operator's [sic] Agents' active or passive acts, omissions or negligence.

After an arrearage arose in 2010, Iron Gate commenced measures to auction Mr. Riley's storage unit contents to satisfy unpaid rent.

The July 1, 2010 Notice of Lien (preliminary lien notice) that was sent by Iron Gate to Mr. Riley is attached as Ex. 3. **That lien notice fails** to perfect a lien by failing to state the required implementation date of the lien of not less than 14 days from mailing as required by RCW 19.150.040.

The 14-day final auction notice and the auction are only permitted if there has first been compliance with RCW 19.150.040. Only if there is compliance with 040 does the storage owner's lien attach, which is a condition precedent to the sale of the occupant's property to satisfy the lien. Upon compliance with 040, RCW 19.150.060(3) requires a 14-day mailed notice of the auction date (Notice of Auction, Ex. 4) before the property can be sold at auction.

Katy Johnston (née Wagnon), the Iron Gate resident manager in charge of the facility where Larry Riley's storage unit number 028 was located,³ sent out the lien and auction notices to Larry Riley.⁴ She hand wrote in the July 14, 2010 date as the deadline for him to make payment and July 15th as the date on which the auction would occur. These were dates that she intended to write in.

The auction notice was sent seven days before expiration of the 14-day notice period for the lien notice (Ex. 9), contrary to the terms of RCW 19.150. 040(2) and 060. Further, Iron Gate's 060 auction notice required that payment be made by July 14, 2010, a day before what would have been the end of the preliminary lien notice period required by 040(2) Ex. 9

The auction was set to occur on July 15, 2010 by the auction notice.)Ex. 4) The auction notice sent was a six-day notice rather than the 14-day notice required by the statute. The auction was conducted by Iron Gate on July 15, 2010 and the contents of Mr. Riley's storage contents were sold, including his personal papers and personal photographs, which Iron Gate was required to hold for him for six months and not sell at the auction. RCW 19.150.060(3) & (5).

³ CP 0160 17-20.

⁴ Ic

Mr. Riley actually received the auction notice in the mail on July 16, 2010, the day after the auction.⁵ Mr. Riley received the auction notice 7 days before the expiration of the statutory 14-day auction notice period required by 060(3).

Mr. Riley appeared on the Iron Gate premises on July 16th to offer payment for the arrearage on the day after the auction and seven days prior to the expiration of the statutory14-day period required for the auction notice.⁶ At that time Mr. Riley was told by Iron Gate's resident manager in charge that his storage unit was completely empty and the contents sold.

On July 17, 2010, a letter from Mr. Riley's attorney, attached as Exhibit 4, was delivered to the Iron Gate resident managers. It explained the invalidity of the auction; that Mr. Riley had been there the day before to pay the arrearage, but that he was told that the unit contents had been sold; demanded access to the storage unit and the return of Mr. Riley's storage unit contents. There was no response to this letter by Iron Gate until December 2010, five months after the auction. See Ex. B, Sellers Declaration §3 (CP 0137).

At the time of the auction, Iron Gate had in effect an agreement (Buyer's Agreement CP 0156) with the purchaser of Mr. Riley's storage

⁵ § 20, Riley Dec. CP 0120

^{6 § 22,} Riley Dec CP 0120

⁷ § 23, Riley Dec CP 0120

unit contents that entitled Iron Gate to repurchase the storage unit contents from the buyer for a period of sixty days following the auction.⁸ Iron Gate made no attempt to repurchase the storage unit contents within 60 days.

2. Proceedings Below

Mr. Riley sued Iron Gate in Clark County Superior Court for damages for conversion, breach of contract, and violations of the Consumer Protection Act, alleging the invalidity of the statutorily-required lien and auction notices, and the invalidity of a limitation on liability (\$5,000), indemnity, and risk shifting provisions in Iron Gate's standard form, non-negotiable rental agreement.

The Trial Court, the Hon. David E. Gregerson presiding, entered an order of partial summary judgment on July 17, 2015 in favor of Iron Gate "limiting any recovery of damages by Plaintiff, under any theory or theories pled, to a maximum of \$5,000". All of the money that Mr. Riley could have recovered based on the order was tendered to Mr. Riley by Iron Gate's payment of the funds into the Clerk of the Superior Court. The trial court entered a final judgment of dismissal of the case. (CP 307 & 308). The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that recovery

⁸ Ex. 5; CP 0170 Aronson depo, 25/1-25; p 26/1-2.

⁹ CP 0305-0306

¹⁰ CP 0307-0308

of monies on any theory was subject to the \$5,000 contractual limitation, but reversed the limitation as to CPA remedies. App. A.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court's acceptance of review of a Court of Appeals' decision terminating review is if that decision fits within one of the four criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Of the four listed, these three are applicable as will be discussed in this argument: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or ... (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This holding of the Court of Appeals does damage to long-held principles of decisional law concerning the tort of conversion that will be felt by storage unit tenants throughout the state. It also establishes stare decisis on the enforceability of exculpatory language in a contract that limits liability contrary to established legal principles, which will facilitate the enforceability of such limitations for contracts throughout the state.

1. The Court of Appeals decision changes the tort of conversion so that any mistake or inadvertence along the way in a set of facts for an intentional act converts

the tort from conversion to one of negligence, which is contrary to the long history of English and American Jurisprudence regarding the tort of conversion.

Every first-year law student in torts class learns the black letter law that conversion is an intentional tort for which the intent required is to do the act that constitutes the conversion; and that proof of the defendant's knowledge, impure motives, or bad faith is not essential to establishing the requisite intent for a conversion.

The classic statement regarding these characteristics of conversion are found in *Kruger v. Horton*, 106 Wn.2d 738, 743, 725 P.2d 417 (1986). *Kruger v. Horton* cites *Judkins vs Sadler-MacNeil*, 61 Wn.2d 1, 3 (1962), one of the most often cited, notable cases on conversion in this state, which correctly states in quoting from that case:

It is said in Salmond on the Law of Torts (9th ed. 1936), § 78, p. 310:

"A conversion is the act of wilfully interfering with any chattel, without lawful justification, whereby any person entitled thereto is deprived of the possession of it."¹¹

¹¹ See also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 222A (1965); Reliable Credit v Progressive, 171 Wn.app 630 (20132); Daminano. V Lind, 163 Wn. App. 1017 (2011) – (While a plaintiff must show that the interference was intentional, no intent to deprive the owner must be shown.); Lowe v. Rowe, 173 Wn.App. 253, 294 P.3d 6 (2012); Brown v. Brown, 157 Wn.App. 803, 239 P.3d 602 (2010) ("Wrongful intent is not an element of conversion, and good faith is not a defense."); In re Marriage of Mangham, 153 Wn.2d 566, n. 8, 106 P.3d 212 (2005) ("Good faith is irrelevant in a conversion action."); Denman v. Zayo Group, (W.E. Wash. 7-22-2013); Ilyia v. Khoury (W.D. Wash. 9-27-2013)).

A classic example of these principals is found in Comment C to §244 of the Restatement of Torts¹²:13

"A, the owner of a garage, receives an automobile from B for storage. B demands the return of the automobile. After the expiration of a reasonable time for inquiry, A refuses to return the car because he honestly and reasonably believes that his storage charges have not been paid, and that he has a lien against the car. In fact B has paid A's employee, who has failed to report the payment. A is subject to liability for conversion."

Iron Gate sold Mr. Riley's property to recover unpaid rent without giving required statutory notices. Iron Gate's claim on innocence in selling the property is not a defense to conversion; Iron Gate intended to auction Mr. Riley's property. Any alleged good faith does not alter the fact that Iron Gate denied Mr. Riley possession of his property without any valid legal privilege to do so because Iron Gate had failed to send notices in compliance with RCW 10.150.040 & 060. Any alleged good faith would have been extinguished when Iron Gate received the July 17, 2010, letter from Mr. Riley's attorney explaining the illegalities of Iron Gate's lien (Ex.3 CP 153-154) and auction (Ex. 4) notices, and then failed

¹² "An actor is not relieved of liability to another for trespass to chattel or for conversion by his belief, because of a mistake of law or fact not induced by the other, that he:

⁽a) Has possession of the chattel or is entitled to its immediate possession, or

⁽b) Has the consent of the other or of one with power to consent for him, or

⁽c) Is otherwise privileged to act." Restatement (Second) of Torts § 244 (1965).

¹³ Restatement (Second) Torts § 244, Comment C, Illustration 5 (1965)

to exercise its rights under its Buyer's Agreement to reacquire the property and subject it to the statutory lien and auction requirements or to allow Mr. Riley to reclaim his property by curing his arrearage in rent.

The Court of Appeals decision characterizes the Notice of Auction as "mistakenly contain(ing)" a 6-day auction notice period rather than the 14-day notice required by RCW 19.150.060. The Court of Appeals points out that Iron Gate acknowledged it "mistakenly" violated the Storage Act. Iron Gate itself used the term "a mistake inadvertently made" on page 7, #5, "The Auction", in its Respondent's Brief to the Court of Appeals.

But negligence is not the issue here. The issue is whether Iron Gate intended to send out lien and auction notices that did not comply with RCW 19.150.040 & 060 whether or not the noncompliance was comprehended by Iron Gate; and whether Iron Gate intended to sell Mr. Riley's storage unit contents at an auction pursuant to the faulty notices, or which there can be little question.

If all facts and their reasonable inferences are construed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving per *Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash.*, 175 Wn.2d 264,271, 285 P.3d 854 (2012), these characterizations of negligence fail to find any support in the evidentiary record. There is no evidence in the record that Iron Gate actually acted inadvertently or unintentionally. The evidence presented by Mr. Riley reflects that the

resident manager of the storage unit knew what date she was putting in the auction notice, which had been provided with by Iron Gate's main office, and she testified that she intended to use that date CP 0162, pg 25/2-20.

There can be no question that Iron Gate conducted an auction with the intent to sell Mr. Riley's storage unit contents; selling Mr. Riley's contents was not inadvertent – it was purposeful. Likewise, there is no testimony or declaration in the record to the effect that either sending the notices or selling Mr. Riley property was unintended.

If the Court of Appeals opinion is taken to its logical conclusion, if there is ever any aspect of mistake or inadvertence along the way in a conversion set of facts, the tortfeasor is absolved of legal responsibility for an intentional act (at least to the extent of being able to enforce his own damage limitations).

Mr. Riley showed up at Iron Gate on the 8th day - the day following his receipt of the auction notice - to pay his rent arrearage and confirm his possession of his storage unit contents, at which time he was told by the resident manager that his unit was empty and that his property had been sold. CP 0119, 0120 # (21) & (22). Contrary to the Court of Appeal's factual recitation that Iron Gate re-obtained most of Mr. Riley's property and made it available to him to pick up, Iron Gate did not recover even many let alone most of the auctioned items, nor was any of it

returned or made it available to Mr. Riley until over five month after the auction. CP 0124 #28. Nor did Iron Gate acknowledge Mr. Riley's Attorney's letter delivered two days after the auction [CP 0120 (23); CP 053 & 0154] until over five months later, (CP 0137 #3), which advised Iron Gate of the illegalities connected with the notices and auction.

Iron Gate had a contract with its Buyer that entitled Iron Gate to buy back the unit contents for 60 days following the auction. All that Iron Gate did in this regard was to put Mr. Riley in touch with their Buyer so that Mr. Riley could buy back his own property with the Buyer's agreement as to the purchase price. CP 0254 pg 27, 1 # 2. Mr. Riley only got back a small portion of his property in the January following the July auction. CP 0124 (0-124, 0125 (28))

In response to Mr. Riley's contention that the volitional act that he argues is an element of conversion and included in the definition of "willful", the Court of Appeals cites *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 155 n.2, 188 P.3d 497 (2008) for the proposition that "willful" requires a showing of actual intent.

An intentional act has two elements: (1) there must be a volitional act; (2) the harm to the plaintiff must be substantially certain to result from the volitional action. 16 D. Dewolf & K. Allen, *Wash. Prac.* Tort Law & Practice § 14:2 (4th Ed 2014).

"The word intent is used throughout the Restatement of this
Subject to denote that the actor desires to cause consequences of his act, or
that he believes that the consequences are substantially certain to result
from it." Restatement (Second) Torts § 8A (1965). The consequences of
sending the notices and conducting the auction would be to permanently
deprive Larry Riley of his property that was in storage unit 028.

"If the actor knows that the consequences are certain, or substantially certain, to result from his act, and still goes ahead, he is treated by the law as if he had in fact desired to produce the result." *Restatement (Second) Torts* § 8A, comment b (1965).

It is pretty hard to understand how the act of seizing and selling a storage unit tenant's property isn't done with an actual intent to harm; there could be no greater harm with respect to someone's property than to seize and sell all of it.

2. The Court of Appeals decision would allow exculpatory contract language to be raised in defense of intentional acts committed by the party claiming the benefit of the exculpatory limitation

On page 6 of the decision (App. A), under B, the Court of Appeals holds that the damage limitation applies to damages "arising from any cause whatsoever, including conversion." The limitation would therefore apply to any intentional act. However, the decision of the Court is inconsistent on this point. For instance, on page 14 (top) the Court holds that damage limitations are enforceable in defense of torts involving

deliberate or volitional conduct so long as there is no evidence of fraudulent or willful misconduct, a distinction for which there is no case authority cited. The language in the case on this issue is therefore conflicting and irreconcilable. Both holdings are also inconsistent with the bulk of the decisional law and principles articulated by appellate courts in the State of Washington.

"The general rule in Washington is that exculpatory clauses are enforceable unless (1) they violate public policy [Wagenblast factors], or (2) the **negligent** act falls greatly below the standard established by law for protection of others, or (3) they are inconspicuous." Scott v. Pacific West Mountain Resort, 119 Wn.2d 484, 834 P.2d 6 (1992). [Bolding added.]

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