FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/11/2017 4:39 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 94521-7

Court of Appeals, Division II, No. 47905-2-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LARRY D. RILEY,

Petitioner,

v.

IRON GATE SELF STORAGE; ESMS PARTNERS LP; GLEN L. ARONSON EVE ARONSON TRUST; PRIME COMMERCIAL PROPERTY, INC.; ALL DBA IRON GATE SELF STORAGE; DBA IRON GATE STORAGE - CASCADE PARK

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Paul R. Xóchihua, WSBA #18729 Christopher M. Parker, WSBA #48561 DAVIS ROTHWELL EARLE & XÓCHIHUA, P.C. Attorneys for Respondents 200 SW Market Street, Suite 1800 Portland, Oregon 97201 (503) 222-4422

I. INTRODUCTION

This case arises from the sale of items stored by plaintiff Larry
Riley in a storage unit leased from one of the defendants, which are
referred to collectively as "Iron Gate." Iron Gate sold the items at auction
after plaintiff defaulted on his rent. Plaintiff now seeks to avoid
contractual value and damage limitation provisions in his rental
agreement. Iron Gate asks this Court to deny plaintiff's petition for
review because the Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law in
holding that such provisions are enforceable. 1

II. RESPONSE TO ISSUES FOR REVIEW

Plaintiff identifies seven issues for review, but some of them appear to be related. As best as Iron Gate can discern, plaintiff's petition for review discusses three primary issues:

- 1. Whether the record proffered by plaintiff is sufficient to support a finding that Iron Gate committed the tort of conversion (an issue not decided by either the trial Court or the Court of Appeals);
 - 2. Whether the record is sufficient to support a finding that

-1-

¹ The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in part, but reversed in part as to plaintiff's claim under the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"). *Riley v. Iron Gate Self Storage*, 198 Wash. App. 692, 709, 395 P.3d 1059, 1069 (2017). Iron Gate requests that review be denied, but if it is accepted, Iron Gate requests the Court to also review the Court of Appeals' decision on the CPA claim.

Iron Gate committed intentional or willful misconduct so as to preclude the applicability or enforcement of the contractual value/damage limitation provisions; and

3. Whether the Self-Storage Facility Act, RCW 19.150 *et seq* ("Self-Storage Act"), precludes enforcement of the contract provisions at issue.

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Rental Agreement

Plaintiff began renting the storage unit at issue in 2003 pursuant to a written rental agreement. CP 18 (pages 49-50). Plaintiff signed and initialed the agreement many times, including eight times on the first two pages where the value/damage limitations provisions are located. CP 21-26. The contract is fully integrated. CP 23 (section 11). Plaintiff agrees that he read and understood the agreement before entering into the lease. CP 19 (page 56:7-13 of plaintiff's deposition).

Plaintiff expressly agreed in the Rental Agreement that Iron Gate's liability would in no event exceed \$5,000:

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Rental Agreement, In no event shall Operator or Operator's Agents be liable to Occupant In an amount In excess of \$5,000 for any damage or lose [sic] to any person, Occupant or any property stored in, on or about the Premises or the Project arising from any cause whatsoever, Including, but not limited to, Operators Agents' active of [sic] passive acts,

omissions or negligence.

CP 22. Plaintiff initialed right below these provisions, indicating he "read, understands and agrees to the provisions of this paragraph 7." *Id*.

The \$5,000 limitation on damages was based on plaintiff's acknowledgement that the kind, quality or value of the property would not be a concern and that the value of the property in the unit was not anticipated to be at or near \$5,000:

* * * It is understood and agreed that Occupant [plaintiff] may store personal property with substantially less or no aggregate value and nothing herein contained shall constitute or evidence, any agreement or administration by Operator [Iron Gate] that the aggregate value of all such personal property is, will be, or is expected to be, at or near \$5,000. It Is specifically understood and agreed that Operator need not be concerned with the kind, quality, or value of personal property or other goods stored by Occupant in or about the Premises pursuant to this Rental Agreement.

CP 21.

Plaintiff represented that he would insure the subject property for 100 percent of its actual cash value:

INSURANCE. OCCUPANT, AT OCCUPANT'S SOLE EXPENSE, SHALL MAINTAIN ON ALL PERSONAL PROPERTY, IN, ON OR ABOUT THE PREMISES, TO THE EXTENT OF AT LEAST 100% OF THE ACTUAL CASH VALUE OF SUCH PERSONAL PROPERTY, A POLICY OR POLICIES OF INSURANCE COVERING DAMAGE BY FIRE, EXTENDED COVERAGE PERILS, VANDALISM

AND BURGLARY. Occupant may satisfy the Insurance requirement for personal property stored in the enclosed Space by electing coverage under the Insurance plan. . . .

CP 22 (capitalization and bold in original). Directly below this provision, plaintiff initialed the box titled "self-insure," thereby agreeing to "personally assume all risk of loss or damage[.]" *Id*.

At the time plaintiff entered into the Rental Agreement, Iron Gate used a third-party broker/insurer offering various levels of coverage to renters. CP 46 (paragraph 4 of Glen Aronson's Declaration). By initialing the "self-insure" box, plaintiff confirmed his decision to self-insure the property, without providing any indication to Iron Gate that he intended to store items with an anticipated value in excess of \$5,000. CP 22.

B. The Auction

It was not an unusual circumstance for plaintiff to fall behind in his rent payments to Iron Gate. CP 46 (paragraph 5 of Aronson Declaration). Iron Gate sent plaintiff a number of past due notices, Notices of Lien, a Notice of Cutting Lock, and a Notice of Auction in the months leading up to the auction. *Id.* At the time these notices related to the auction were sent, Iron Gate believed they complied with Washington law. *Id.* However, it appears a mistake was inadvertently made in that one of the notices contained an auction date less than 14 days from the date of the

notice. CP 10 (paragraph 7) and 151.

Iron Gate auctioned the contents of plaintiff's unit, excluding personal papers and personal photographs, on July 15, 2010. CP 46 (paragraph 6 of Aronson Declaration). Iron Gate successfully recovered many or most of the auctioned items by repurchasing them from the winning bidder and storing them at no cost to plaintiff until he was able to retrieve them several months later. *Id*.

C. <u>Trial Court Upholds Value/Damage Limit</u>

The trial Court held the \$5,000 value/damage limitation provisions in the Rental Agreement were enforceable and that plaintiff's damages on all claims were limited to a maximum of \$5,000. CP 305-306. Iron Gate thereafter tendered to plaintiff a check in the amount of \$23,000, representing three times the \$5,000 value/damage limit set forth in the contract, plus interest. RP 91-92 (July 7, 2015 hearing). Based on this tender (which plaintiff agreed represented his maximum potential recovery), the trial Court entered a Final Judgment. CP 307-308. Plaintiff did not object to the form or entry of the Final Judgment. RP 92 (lines 12-14).

D. <u>Court of Appeals Affirms, in Part</u>

Plaintiff appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division II, which affirmed in part, and reversed in part. *Riley*, 198 Wash. App. at 713. The

Court of Appeals rejected plaintiff's arguments that the value/damage limitation provisions were unconscionable, against public policy, or otherwise unenforceable. *Id.* at 701-12. The Court of Appeals held the subject contract provisions applied to all of plaintiff's claims, *except* his claim under the CPA. *Id.* at 709. The Court of Appeals held that application of the value/damage limit to plaintiff's CPA claim would be against public policy. *Id.*²

E. <u>Plaintiff's Petition for Review</u>

Plaintiff now asks this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals' decision as it relates to all of his claims, *except* his CPA claim. In other words, plaintiff requests a ruling from this Court that the value/damage limitation provisions do not apply to *any* of his claims.

IV. ARGUMENT

Plaintiff relies upon three of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) to support his petition for review; namely, that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and/or other decisions from the Court of Appeals; and that the lower Court's decision would undermine

-6-

² In reversing the trial Court's ruling as to plaintiff's CPA claim, the Court of Appeals referenced how the CPA sets a limit on treble damages in the amount of \$25,000, which is higher than the \$5,000 limit in the contract, and higher than the \$23,000 previously tendered by Iron Gate. *Id.*

the substantial public interest of the Self-Storage Act.³ Plaintiff is wrong. None of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria for accepting review apply in this case. Iron Gate respectfully requests that review be denied.

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1) Does not Apply Because the Court of Appeals Followed This Court's Precedent

Plaintiff has not cited a single decision from this Court holding that contractual limitations on value/damages are unenforceable. ⁴ Instead, plaintiff attempts to distract the Court with a lengthy discussion regarding the elements of conversion. Plaintiff goes as far as contending that the Court of Appeals' ruling "changes the tort of conversion." That contention is without merit. The Court of Appeals did not address (much less *change*) the elements of conversion. Whether Iron Gate is liable to

³ RAP 13.4(b), in relevant part, provides that a petition for review will be accepted only:

⁽¹⁾ If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

⁽²⁾ If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

⁽⁴⁾ If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

⁴ Nor could he, as this Court has consistently recognized the "black letter law of contracts that the parties to a contract shall be bound by its terms." *Torgerson v. One Lincoln Tower, LLC*, 166 Wn.2d 510, 517, 210 P.3d 318, 322 (2009) (citation omitted). The freedom of contract rule applies to contractual value/damage limitation provisions. They *are* enforceable. *Id.* at 522-23 (enforcing damage limitation provision in connection with real estate agreement).

plaintiff for conversion is *not* at issue in this appeal. Plaintiff's discussion of the tort of conversion is irrelevant, and it certainly does not establish any conflict between the lower Court's decision here and any decision from this Court.

Plaintiff also repeats his argument that because Iron Gate's conduct related to the auction was "volitional," such conduct amounts to "willful" misconduct so as to preclude the enforcement/applicability of the contract provisions at issue. This argument was correctly rejected by the Court of Appeals based on the rule that "volition alone is insufficient to support a finding of 'willfulness.' 'Willful' requires a showing of actual intent to harm." *Riley*, 198 Wash. App. at 707 (citing *Zellmer v. Zellmer*, 164 Wn.2d 147, 155 n.2, 188 P.3d 497 [2008]).

Plaintiff does not provide, or attempt to provide, any good reason why this Court should revisit the rule from its decision in *Zellmer*. The Court of Appeals' decision correctly followed and applied this Court's precedent.

B. RAP 13.4(b)(2) Does Not Apply Because There are no Conflicting Court of Appeals' Decisions

Plaintiff has not cited any decision from any Division of the Court of Appeals that conflicts with the Court of Appeals' decision in the case at bar. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals relied, in part, on its prior

decision in *Eifler v. Shurgard Capital Mgmt. Corp.*, 71 Wn. App. 684, 689-96, 861 P.2d 1071 (1993), in which the Court enforced a liability disclaimer in a self-storage lease agreement that barred several of the plaintiff's claims. If claims can be *barred* by a disclaimer, they can certainly be limited by a value limitation set forth in the agreement.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also consistent with other decisions from the Court of Appeals rejecting the same or similar public policy arguments presented by plaintiff here.⁵ Because the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, RAP 13.4(b)(2) does not apply.

C. RAP 13.4(b)(4) Does Not Apply Because the Lower Court's Decision Does Not Undermine the Substantial Public Interest of the Self-Storage Act

Plaintiff also contends this Court should accept his petition under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' ruling would "eviscerate" the substantial public interest protected by the Self-Storage Act. This contention is without merit.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the Self-Storage Act does *not* bar contractual limitations on value/damages. *Riley*, 198 Wash. App. at

704 n.6 (citing RCW 19.150.140). The Court also correctly noted that a recent amendment to the Self-Storage Act confirms this point and acknowledges that such limitations in rental agreements have existed and that the amendment serves to clarify the purpose of such limits.⁶

The Self-Storage act does not, and has never, precluded contractual limitations on value or damages. The intent of the legislature was to leave open the possibility of such agreements among the parties. *See* RCW 19.150.140. Plaintiff's contention that the Court of Appeals' opinion undermines the substantial public interest of the Self-Storage Act is without merit. Nor do plaintiff's complaints regarding the form of this particular rental agreement, or the circumstances unique to this particular auction, present the type of broader public policy concerns necessitating review by this Court.

D. <u>If the Court Accepts Review, Iron Gate Requests it also</u> <u>Review the Decision on Plaintiff's CPA Claim</u>

Iron Gate asks this Court to deny plaintiff's petition for review.

But if review is accepted, Iron Gate respectfully requests that the Court

⁵ See e.g., Johnson v. Spokane to Sandpoint, LLC, 176 Wash. App. 453, 460, 309 P.3d 528, 533 (2013); Boyce v. West, 71 Wash. App. 657, 665-66, 862 P.2d 592, 597 (1993); Conradt v. Four Star Promotions, 45 Wash. App. 847, 852, 728 P.2d 617, 621 (1986).

⁶ See Id. (citing CP at 41-43 (S.B. Rep. on S.B. 5009, 64th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2015) (report dated Jan. 26, 2015)).

reverse the Court of Appeals' decision as to plaintiff's claim under the CPA. That claim should be subject to the same value/damage limitation as plaintiff's other claims.

No provision in the CPA precludes contractual limitations on value or damages. No decision from this Court has ever held a mere limitation on value or damages is somehow unenforceable when applied to a CPA claim.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held that applying the value/damage limitation provisions to plaintiff's CPA claim would be against public policy. The only case law cited by the Court of Appeals in support of its holding on plaintiff's CPA claim was this Court's decision in *Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). *Dix* does not apply here because it involved a fundamentally different type of contract provision: class action waivers/forum selection clauses that would completely destroy an entire class of claims, thus leaving a multitude of named plaintiffs without a remedy.

Such is not the case here. The contractual limitations on value/damages do not deprive plaintiff (much less an entire class of plaintiffs) of an adequate forum, nor do they limit his damages to some inconsequential amount not worth pursuing. The only limitation is that plaintiff is not entitled to pursue damages above the value limit that he

agreed to on the front-end of the transaction. Those limits should apply.

Therefore, *if* the Court accepts review, then Iron Gate requests the Court

reverse the Court of Appeals as to plaintiff's CPA claim.

V. CONCLUSION

Plaintiff has not established that any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) apply in this case. There is no conflict between the lower Court's decision and any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Plaintiff's arguments based on the Self-Storage Act fail based on the plain language and intent of the statute. Iron Gate respectfully requests that review be

denied.